OA 10-1-90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT THOMAS KRAEMER, JR., Etc., Et Al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 75,580

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, 2ND DISTRICT - No. 88-02372

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DAVID J. ABBEY, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar #228222 FOX & GROVE, CHARTERED One Fourth Street North Suite 1000 St. Petersburg, FL 33701 (813) 821-2080

THOMAS P. FOX, ESQUIRE
Fla. Bar #218510
THOMAS P. FOX, P.A.
401 East Kennedy Boulevard
Tampa, FL 33602
(813) 228-9819

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONERS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On May 15, 1986, Michael Anthony Green entered into a contract with GMAC to lease a 1987 Nissan Maxima from GMAC. The term of the written "Lease Agreement" was 48 months. (A 1-3). The lease, with GMAC as the lessor, and Michael A. Green and William A. Green as the lessees, included the following provisions:

- "17. USE. You will allow only licensed drivers to operate the vehicle. You will keep the vehicle free of all fines, liens and encumbrances. You agree to pay any such fines or remove any such liens and encumbrances immediately. If you do not, Lessor may do so and any amounts paid by Lessor shall be an additional amount owed by you under this lease. You will not use the vehicle illegally, improperly or for hire. You will not use the vehicle to pull trailers. You will not remove the vehicle from the United States or Canada. You will not alter, mark or install equipment in the vehicle without Lessor's written consent.
- 19. RETURN OF VEHICLE AT SCHEDULED LEASE TERMINATION. At the end of the lease, if you do not purchase the vehicle, you will return the vehicle to Lessor at point of delivery in good condition without damage or excessive wear and use and pay any amounts you may owe under this lease.
- 23. DEFAULT. If you are in default [see Paragraph 12(b)] Lessor will have the rights and remedies provided by law. Lessor will have the right to sue you for damages and/or recovery of the vehicle.

Lessor may take the vehicle from you without demand. To take it, Lessor may enter your premises or the premises where the vehicle is stored, so long as it is done peacefully. If there is any personal property in the vehicle when Lessor takes it from you, Lessor can take it and store it for you.

The taking of the vehicle by Lessor shall be considered an Early Termination and you will not be released from any obligation under this lease. You will be charged the reasonable expenses of taking and storing the vehicle. You will also be charged reasonable attorney's fees and legal expenses incurred by Lessor, to the extent permitted by law. The amount you will owe will be determined by Paragraphs 12(c)(i) and 12(c)(ii).

24. OWNERSHIP. This is a lease only and Lessor remains the owner of the vehicle. You will not transfer, sublease, rent, or do anything to interfere with Lessor's ownership of the vehicle. You and Lessor agree that this lease will be treated as a true lease for Federal Income Tax purposes and elect to have Lessor receive the benefits of ownership (IRC sec. 168(1)(8).

28. ASSIGNMENT. You agree that this lease or any rentals may be assigned by Lessor. *You* have no right to assign this lease."

In addition to the above stated lease terms, the Greens were to insure the vehicle with \$100,000 per person and \$300,000 per accident in liability coverage and make monthly payments. (A 1). Approximately one month following delivery, the liability insurance coverage on the automobile was cancelled because Michael Green's check was returned for non-sufficient funds. (R 98). Further, GMAC received the last monthly payment on January 5, 1987. (R 269). There is no information in the record which demonstrates GMAC took any action in response to these defaults.

On May 6, 1987 (approximately eleven months after the vehicle was last insured and five months since GMAC received the last monthly payment), Calvin Gary, an acquaintance of Michael A. Green, borrowed the automobile. While using the car, Gary was

involved in an automobile accident on May 7, 1987, killing petitioners' decedent, Marguerite Voorhees Kraemer.

GMAC filed a Complaint for declaratory judgment seeking a declaration that GMAC was not liable for Marguerite Voorhees Kraemer's death because GMAC did not have beneficial ownership of the car. (R 1-11). Petitioners filed an Answer, Defenses and a Counterclaim against GMAC, the Greens, and Gary, seeking money damages from GMAC for Gary's negligence on the basis of GMAC's vicarious liability as the owner and lessor. (R 17-19).

GMAC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on the grounds that it was not the beneficial owner and, therefore, could not be liable under the Dangerous Intrumentality Doctrine. (R 87). GMAC admitted in their Memorandum of Law in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment that there were no Florida appellate decisions dealing with the applicability of the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine to a long-term lessor, but argued that GMAC should have no vicarious liability pursuant to the Florida appellate cases holding conditional vendors or financial institutions have no vicarious liability when a vendor or institution retains naked legal title as security for payment. (R 255-263).

The petitioners, in opposition to GMAC's Motion for Summary Judgment, argued that the term of the lease was irrelevant and that the owner of a vehicle who rents or leases it to another is liable for the injuries caused by its operation subject to certain exceptions, pursuant to Florida appellate decisions dealing with the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine. The petitioners also filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment asking the court to declare GMAC

vicariously liable pursuant to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine. (R 95). The trial court never ruled on the petitioners' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

The trial court entered final Summary Judgment in favor of GMAC, finding that there were no disputed issues of material fact and that GMAC was not the beneficial owner of the vehicle as a matter of law. Further, the trial court determined GMAC had no vicarious liability for the negligent use of the motor vehicle pursuant to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine. (R 276, 77).

Petitioners presented the same arguments on appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal, but the final Summary Judgment entered by the trial court was affirmed. Kraemer v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., 556 So.2d 431 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). (A 4-9). The district court later entered its decision adverse petitioners' Motion Rehearing, Clarification and/or for Certification. (A 10).The petitioners then sought discretionary jurisdiction with this Court arguing the Second District's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with prior decisions of this Court and of at least two district courts of appeal. This Court accepted jurisdiction and has scheduled oral argument.

ISSUE PRESENTED ON REVIEW

WHETHER A MOTOR VEHICLE OWNER WHO LEASES A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE HAS VICARIOUS LIABILITY FOR THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THE VEHICLE UNDER FLORIDA'S "DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE" IF THE LESSEE FAILS TO MAINTAIN THE LIABILITY INSURANCE DESCRIBED IN \$324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.),

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Over seventy years ago this Court published its first opinion applying the "Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine'' to hold an automobile owner vicariously liable for the negligence of a permissive user. The Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine sprang from law principle that a bailor the common of а dangerous instrumentality has vicarious liability to third parties injuries or damages caused by a negligent bailee's use of the dangerous instrumentality. Throughout the years, Florida courts applied the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine to hold motor vehicle lessors responsible for the negligence of lessees without regard to the term of the lease.

Two exceptions to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine have been created by this Court: first, this Court held the seller of an automobile is not vicariously liable as the owner if there is a transfer of "beneficial ownership'' to the buyer and the seller "holds mere naked legal title as security for payment of the purchase price." Palmer v. R.S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc., 81 So.2d 635, 636, 37 (Fla. 1955); and, second, this Court held an owner is not vicariously liable for damages caused while a vehicle is being repaired. Castillo v. Bickley, 363 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1978). A third

exception to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine was created by Statute when \$324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.) 1 became effective July 1, 1986. The Statute probably provides a long-term lessor with immunity from liability under the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine if the long-term lessee maintains a certain high level of insurance on a vehicle leased for more than one year.

The accident giving rise to this lawsuit occurred May 7, 1987, approximately ten months after \$324.021(9)(b) became effective. As GMAC's lessee had failed to maintain insurance coverage on the vehicle subject to the long-term lease, GMAC admitted no entitlement to the statutory long-term lease exception set forth in \$324.021(9)(b). However, the Second District accepted GMAC's argument that long-term lessors are entitled to the benefits of the "Palmer Exception" as long-term lessors retain naked legal title and transfer beneficial ownership to long-term lessees. Kraemer v. GMAC, 556 So.2d 431, 434 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

Contrary to the Second District's opinion, the Palmer Exception does not apply to long-term lessors as:

1. Florida case law makes no distinction between the

All reference to \$324.021(9)(b) will be to the version of the Statute in effect on the date of the accident, \$324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.). The Legislature amended 5324.021 (9)(b) during the 1988 Regular Session removing the sentence, "further, this paragraph shall be applicable so long as the insurance required under such lease remains in effect" from the middle of \$324.021(9)(b) and placing the sentence at the end.

As did the Second District in its opinion, throughout this Brief the exception to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine applying to conditional sales agreements recognized in <u>Palmer</u> will be referred to as the "Palmer Exception." <u>Kraemer</u> at 434.

vicarious liability of long-term and short-term lessors of automobiles and no distinction should be made:

- 2. The Palmer Exception does not apply to long-term leases, as long-term lessors do not transfer beneficial ownership to buyers and hold mere naked legal title as security for payment of the purchase price;
- 3. The Palmer Exception does not apply to GMAC in this particular case as GMAC did not transfer beneficial ownership to the Greens and retained more than naked legal title to secure payment pursuant to the terms of the Lease Agreement (A 1-3);
- 4. As the Greens did not have even a right to possession of the leased vehicle after their default, the Greens could not have been beneficial ownership of the vehicle at the time of the accident.

For the above-stated reasons, this Court should determine GMAC was not entitled to claim the Palmer Exception to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine as a matter of law. In the alternative, this Court should rule the application of the Palmer Exception to this case is an issue of fact which requires trial.

ARGUMENT

A MOTOR VEHICLE OWNER LEASING A VEHICLE UNDER A LONG-TERM LEASE HAS VICARIOUS LIABILITY FOR THE NEGLIGENT OPERATION OF THE VEHICLE UNDER FLORIDA'S "DANGEROUS INSTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE" IF THE LESSEE FAILS TO MAINTAIN THE LIABILITY INSURANCE DESCRIBED IN \$324.021(9)(b), Fla. Stat. (1986 Supp.).

What. known Florida's has become as "Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine" was originally applied to automobiles in Anderson v. Southern Cotton Oil Co., 73 Fla. 432, 74 So. 975 (Fla. 1917) and Southern Cotton Oil Co. v. Anderson, 80 Fla. 441, 86 So. 629 (1920). This Court held an owner/employer vicariously liable for the injuries arising from the negligent misuse of an automobile by an operator/employee. However, in reaching the holding, this Court used language which made it uncertain whether the Doctrine was to be applied only to employees using employers' motor vehicles pursuant to the principle of respondeat superior or whether the Doctrine extended to all owners who allowed others to operate their vehicles.

This issue was resolved some eleven years later in Herr v. Butler, 101 Fla. 1125, 132 So. 815 (Fla. 1931) when this Court affirmed a judgment against a father who had allowed his son to operate the father's car. The Court relied upon the Southern Cotton Oil Co. opinion quoting the following language: "...an automobile operated upon the public highways being a dangerous machine, its owner is responsible for the manner in which it is used, and his liability extends to its use by anyone with his knowledge or consent." Id. at 1127, 132 So. at 816.

this clearly held the Thus, Court Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine was to be applied in Florida to hold a bailor liable for the negligence of his bailee independent of respondeat superior. Although not specifically recognized by this Court in Herr, the holding was an application to automobiles of the common law rule that a bailor who transfers possession of a dangerous instrumentality to a bailee may be held vicariously liable to third parties for the negligent use of the dangerous instrumentality. 8 C.J.S, Bailments §97; and 5 Fla. Jur. 2d Bailments \$16.

In <u>Lynch v. Walker</u>, 31 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1947), this Court first ruled a motor vehicle lessor was responsible for injuries inflicted by the negligence of the lessee. The Court held: "When an owner authorizes and permits his automobile to be used by another he is liable in damages for injuries to third persons caused by the negligent operation so authorized by the owner." <u>Id</u>. at 271. This Court did not suggest in <u>Lynch</u> that vicarious liability attached only to owners who leased vehicles for short periods.

Seven years later this Court again held an owner/lessor liable for the negligent operation of a leased vehicle in <u>Fleming v. Alter</u>, 69 So.2d 185, 186 (Fla. 1954). Thus, this Court recognized that owners who lease motor vehicles for profit should not avoid liability for damages incurred by individuals injured through the negligent use of the vehicles. Again, this Court in <u>Fleming</u> did not indicate the length of the lease was a relevant consideration.

832 (Fla. 1959), this Court once again determined a lessor of a vehicle to be vicariously responsible for the negligent use of the vehicle stating "...an owner cannot deliver a vehicle into the hands of another without assuming or continuing, his full responsibility to the public." Id. at 837, Again, the Court did not limit liability dependent upon the duration of the lease.

As the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine developed, a number of Florida cases expressly held long-term lessors liable for the negligent operation of their motor vehicles. In Racecon, Inc. V. Mead, 388 So.2d 266 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980), the Fifth District Court of Appeal held a lessor, who had leased a vehicle to a lessee for One year, to be vicariously liable for its negligent operation. The district court stated, "Independent of any insurance requirement, and by virtue of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine, there is a common law obligation of owners of motor vehicles which makes them responsible for injuries caused by such vehicle in the course of its intended use." Id. at 268.

In Allstate v. Executive Car and Truck Leasing, Inc., 494
So.2d 487 (Fla. 1986), this Court primarily dealt with issues regarding layers of motor vehicle insurance coverage. Executive Car Leasing owned the vehicle involved in the accident, and was insured by Industrial Indemnity. In reaching its decision, this Court held "Industrial insured a vicariously liable party."

Id. at 489. It is clear from the decision that vicarious liability was based upon the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine. Although the Allstate opinion does not mention the term of the lease, petitioners filed a

certified copy of the 36-month lease obtained from the Allstate record with the Second District Court of Appeal along with a Notice of Supplemental Authority and Motion for Judicial Notice. The lease also appears in the Appendix to this Brief. (A 11-14). The decision of the Second District in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the holding in Allstate that the long-term lessor was vicariously liable for the negligent use of the leased vehicle.

In Tribbitt v. Crown Contractors, Inc., 513 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), the First District Court of Appeal reversed a summary judgment entered by the trial court in favor of a long-term The plaintiff sued the owner/lessor Crown: owner/lessor. lessee, Ensco; and the driver, Brasher. The trial court entered summary judgment for Crown stating that the owner/lessor was not vicariously liable for the negligent use of the vehicle as the owner had no consent to use the vehicle. In reversing the summary judgment, the First District held the issue of vicarious liability was for a jury as there was a factual issue as to the owner/lessor's knowledge of, and consent to, the use of the vehicle. this holding clearly assumes Florida law places vicarious liability on the owner/long-term lessor if knowledge and consent were found by a jury. A certified copy of the 36-month lease was filed with the Second District Court of Appeal along with a Notice of Supplemental Authority and Motion for Judicial Notice as the body of the case did not clearly indicate the length of the lease. The lease also appears in the Appendix of the Brief. (A 15-23).

Three exceptions to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine have been recognized by this Court or created by Statute.

In <u>Palmer v. R.S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc.</u>, 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), this Court recognized the first exception to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine by holding a seller who retains mere naked legal title as security for payment of the purchase price is not vicariously liable for the negligent use of a motor vehicle as the beneficial ownership passes to the buyer upon the seller's surrender of possession. <u>Id</u>. at 636. As stated earlier, the Second District in the instant case referred to this rule as the Palmer Exception to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine. <u>Kraemer v. GMAC</u>, 556 So.2d 431, 434 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). Further, the Second District found the outcome of this case was controlled by the Palmer Exception.

The second exception applies in limited situations when an owner surrenders a motor vehicle for repair or service. <u>Castillo v. Bickley</u>, 363 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1978) and <u>Michalek v. Shumate</u>, 524 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1988). Of course, this repair exception is not applicable to the facts of the instant case. Further, the social policies and practical reasons identified by this Court as cause for creating the repair exception, do not exist in this case. <u>Castillo</u>, 363 So.2d at 793.

The third exception is statutory and became effective July 1, 1986. §324.021(9)(b). The Statute may provide long-term lessors with immunity for liability pursuant to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine if the lessee maintains liability insurance of \$100,000/\$300,000 for bodily injury and \$50,000 for property

damage. We say "may" provide immunity as the existence and the constitutionality of a statutory long-term lease exception has been subject of much litigation since \$324.021(9)(b) the effective. Perry v. GMAC Leasing Corp., 549 So.2d 680 (Fla. 2d DCA 560 So.2d 798 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); 1989); Folmar v. Young, Tsiknakis v. Volvo Finance of North America, Inc., 15 F.L.W. (Fla. Apr. 17, 1990). The Tsiknakis decision has been certified to this Court as one containing an issue of great public importance and the Fourth District's decision in Folmar is being reviewed en banc. (A 26). Whether the Statute is eventually determined to be constitutional or not, the fact remains that the Greens did not maintain the insurance required by §324.021(9)(b) in order for GMAC to obtain the benefit of limited liability under S324.021 (9)(b). As a result, GMAC has never claimed the exception to the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine set forth in \$324.021(9)(b) applied in this case.

The petitioners respectfully submit the Second District clearly erred in applying the Palmer Exception of the Dangerous Instrumentality Doctrine to the facts of the instant case. In determining the cause of this error, we must examine both the Kraemer opinion and the Perry opinion which the Second District published five months prior to Kraemer.

In <u>Perry</u>, a long-term lessor obtained a Summary Judgment in the trial court on the basis of the exception for long-term leases set forth in \$324.021(9)(b). Although the opinion does not give the date of the accident giving rise to the litigation, the accident must have occurred after July 1, 1986, the effective date

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