0.11.10.1.90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT THOMAS KRAEMER, JR., as Personal Representative of the Estate of Marguerite Voorhees Kraemer, Deceased, and ROBERT THOMAS KRAEMER, JR., individually,

Petitioner,

VS.

GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 75,583



AUG 2 1990

PH DOWN COUNT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT GENERAL MOTORS ACCEPTANCE CORPORATION

LARRY I. GRAMOVOT, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar #273570
MALLERY & ZIMMERMAN, S.C. 101 Grand Avenue P.O. Box 479
Wausau, WI 54402-0479
(715) 845-8234

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It is crystal clear that under Florida law the beneficial owner of a motor vehicle, rather than the naked legal title holder, is liable in tort pursuant to the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. Beneficial ownership vests in one who has day-to-day control over the use of the vehicle and is, for all practical purposes, the owner of that vehicle. In the instant case, GMAC never had meaningful control over the use of the automobile leased to Michael Green, pursuant to the long-term lease agreement. Green had exclusive possession and control of the vehicle for a minimum of 48 months, with an option to purchase at the expiration of that term. Green had sole responsibility for obtaining insurance on the automobile, renewing the registration, obtaining license plates, and for doing all maintenance on the vehicle. In addition, Green, not GMAC, was the beneficiary of the manufacturer's warranty on the vehicle. Green was also responsible for paying all taxes on the vehicle, and was free to operate it in any manner he chose so long as he did nothing to damage the vehicle in the event he elected not to purchase it at the expiration of the lease period. Consequently, GMAC was simply not the beneficial owner of the vehicle, and could not be held liable under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

Numerous cases in Florida deal with the dichotomy between beneficial ownership and legal ownership, primarily under conditional sales contracts. However, there is no material distinction between a conditional sale and a long-term lease with option to purchase as they relate to the issue of beneficial ownership and the applicability of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine. A long-term lessor, like a conditional vendor, has no authority or control over the day-to-day use of the vehicle. Both the vendee and lessee are responsible for maintaining the vehicle, securing all required insurance, licenses and tags, and paying all The conditional vendee and lessee both have exclusive beneficial ownership of the vehicles they possess. In fact, the Florida Legislature has classified long-term lessors with conditional vendors, and has provided that neither is the "owner" of a motor vehicle for purposes of financial responsibility or the application of the uniform traffic laws.²

The dangerous instrumentality doctrine has never been absolute in its application, and has never been expressly

Petitioner's Brief argues that Respondent's liability is in some way affected by § 324.021(9) (b), Fla. Stat. (1986). Petitioner's argument is the subject of a Motion to Strike previously filed by Respondent. The Motion to Strike is based upon the fact that if the statutory provision in question relates to this case at all, that issue was specifically waived by Respondent at the Trial Court level, and again in the Second District Court of Appeal. Consequently, Respondent's Brief will not address that non-issue.

applied by any Court of this state to hold a long-term lessor such as GMAC liable. Respondent submits that the doctrine should not now be expanded to hold the title holder, rather than the beneficial owner, liable in this case. In an extremely well-reasoned and thoughtful decision, the Second District Court of Appeal found that GMAC's ability to control the use of the leased vehicle was not significantly different from that of a bank which lends money for the purchase of a car. The Court declined to judicially expand the dangerous instrumentality doctrine under the facts of this case, and its decision should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY RULED THAT WHERE GMAC HAD RELINQUISHED BENEFICIAL OWNER-SHIP OF A VEHICLE TO A LONG-TERM LESSEE, IT WAS NOT SUBJECT TO LIABILITY UNDER THE DANGEROUS INTRUMENTALITY DOCTRINE.

The facts of the instant case are not in dispute.³
Rather, based upon those facts, Petitioner argues that GMAC as "owner" of the long-term lease vehicle is responsible for the negligence of Calvin Gary in the operation of that vehicle. The undisputed facts, however, clearly show that GMAC had relinquished beneficial ownership of the automobile to Michael Green, the long-term lessee, and consequently was not the "owner" of the vehicle within the meaning of those cases imposing liability predicated upon the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

This Court first applied the dangerous instrumentality doctrine to motor vehicles in the landmark case of <u>Anderson</u>

<u>v. Southern Cotton Oil Co.</u>, **74** So. **975** (Fla. **1917).** In that case the Defendant, Southern Cotton Oil Company, owned an

In its Brief, Petitioner argues, <u>inter alia</u>, that at a minimum the summary judgment entered in favor of GMAC should be reversed for a trial on the issue of whether GMAC in fact had beneficial ownership of the vehicle in question. Petitioner's Brief fails, however, to point out any disputed issues of material fact regarding beneficial ownership, and Respondent submits that the omission was due to the fact that none exist. Moreover, a review of the record on appeal will disclose that at no time did Petitioner ever take the position that disputed facts of a material nature exist, and the issue has therefore been waived in any event.

automobile which it had permitted its employees to use for the purpose of driving to and from Pensacola to eat their meals. In April 1914 one of Southern Cotton Oil Company's employees, utilizing Southern's automobile with its permission, struck a motorcycle operated by Anderson. Suit by Anderson followed, and the Trial Court directed a verdict in favor of Southern Cotton Oil Company finding that there was no legal basis for imposing liability on that company.

74 So. at 976. On appeal, this Court reversed. In its Decision, this Court initially discussed the fact that although automobiles may not be classified as per se dangerous instrumentalities, because of their speed and weight they may become extremely dangerous by negligent or inefficient use. Id. at 978. The Court went on to note:

The lawmaking power of the state, in recognition of the many and great dangers incident to their use, has enacted special regulations for the running of automobiles or motor vehicles on the public roads and highways of the state. . . These requiretions relate primarily to duties that are imposed upon the owners of such vehicles. While these regulations do not expressly enlarge the common law liabilities of employers for the negligence of the employees, the statute does impose upon the owners of automobiles and motor vehicles duties and obligations not put upon the owners of other vehicles that are not so peculiarly dangerous in their operation, and specifically requires licenses, numbering, etc., for purposes of identifying the owner, and enacts that automobiles shall not be so operated on a public highway "as to endanger the life or limb of any person." It is also enacted that in the case of accident the name and address of the owner shall be given on request. The owners of automobiles in this state are bound to observe statutory regulations for their use and assume liability commensurate with the dansers to which the owners or their asents subject others in the using of the automobiles on the public highways. The principles of the common law do not permit the owner of an instrumentality that is not dangerous per se, but is peculiarly dangerous in its operation to authorize another to use such instrumentality on the public highways without imposing upon such owner liability for negligent use. In view of the dangers incident to the operation of automobiles and the duties and obligations of the owners of motor vehicles under the statutes of the state, it could not be said that on the facts of this case no question was made for the jury to decide. Id. at 978 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

Clearly, this Court imposed liability without fault upon the owner of the motor vehicle based, in large part, upon the traffic statutes placing various duties upon automobile owners, and the obvious legislative intent behind those traffic statutes. Moreover, there was absolutely no question that Southern Cotton Oil Company had loaned its own automobile, which it had total control over, to one of its employees who then caused injury to the Plaintiff.⁴

This Court again addressed the issue of liability under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine in Palmer v. R. S.
Evans, Jacksonville. Inc., 81 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1955), but dealt with facts differing substantially from those in Anderson, supra. In Palmer an individual named Hughes was purchasing an automobile from R. S. Evans, and about 20 minutes after taking the car from Evans' lot, Hughes

4

struck a motorcycle on which Palmer was riding. 81 So.2d at 635. The contract for sale of the vehicle by Evans to Hughes was not executed until the day after the accident occurred. The issue of whether R. S. Evans was liable to Plaintiff was presented to the jury, and the jury returned a verdict in favor of Evans. Id. at 636. In affirming the verdict in favor of Evans, this Court noted that before Hughes drove the automobile out of Evans' lot, "the definite intention existed on the part of Hughes and the Evans representative to make immediate transfer of the beneficial ownership of the vehicle to Hughes. . . . " Id. at 636. Of particular significance, the Court noted:

Thus legal title to the automobile remained in the seller, R. S. Evans, at the time the accident occurred. But the rationale of our cases which imposed tort liability upon the owner of an automobile operated by another . . . would not be served by extending the doctrine to one who holds mere naked legal title as security for payment of the purchase price. <u>In such a title holder, the</u> authority over the use of the vehicle which reposes in the beneficial owner is absent. Probably <u>because of this fact, the term "owner" is defined</u> <u>in Fla. Stat. §317.74(20), F.S.A., to mean only</u> the conditional vendee, in the case of a vehicle which is the subject of an ordinary agreement for conditional sale. Moreover, in jurisdictions having statutes making the owner liable for the negligence of another driving his car with his consent, the term "owner" has been universally construed to eliminate those who hold nothing more than naked legal title. . . It is therefore apparent that it was necessary for appellee in the case before us to prove only that the beneficial ownership had passed to Hughes before the accident occurred and, as we have indicated above, the proof was adequate upon this point. <u>Id</u>. at 637 (emphasis added, citations omitted).

Clearly, the determinative factor in <u>Palmer</u>, <u>supra</u>, was the fact that Hughes had beneficial ownership of the

automobile in question, notwithstanding the fact that R. S. Evans held legal title. It should be noted that once again this Court referred to the fact that the Florida Traffic Statutes (at that time Chapter 317, presently Chapter 316), imposed certain obligations upon the "owners" of motor vehicles, but specifically provided that a conditional vendor was not the "owner"; rather, the conditional vendee was statutorily defined as the owner of the vehicle. See also, Hicks v. Land, 117 So.2d 11 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960); Williams v. Davidson, 179 So.2d 387 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965); McCall v. Garland, 371 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); Harrell v. Sellars, 424 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Wummer v. Lowary, 441 So.2d 1151 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

As has already been pointed out, this Court relied in part upon the applicable traffic statutes in rendering its decisions in Anderson v. Southern Cotton Oil Co., supra, and Palmer v. R. S. Evans, Jacksonville, Inc., supra. Presently, the State Uniform Traffic Control Statutes are contained within Chapter 316, Fla. Stat. In part, § 316.002, Fla. Stat. (1985), provides that "it is the legislative intent in the adoption of this chapter to make uniform traffic laws to apply throughout the state and its several counties and uniform traffic ordinances to apply in all municipalities." As with the conditional vendor in Palmer, supra, § 316.003(27), Fla. Stat. (1985), defines "owner" within the meaning of the State Uniform Traffic Control Act:

OWNER - A person who holds the legal title of a vehicle, or, in the event a vehicle is the subject of an asreement for the conditional sale or lease thereof with the risht of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the asreement and with an immediate right of possession vested in the conditional vendee or lessee, or in the event a mortgagor of a vehicle is entitled to possession, then such conditional vendee, or lessee, or mortgagor shall be deemed the owner, for purposes of this chapter. (emphasis added).

Clearly, the State Uniform Traffic Control Act does <u>not</u> apply to Respondent, GMAC, pursuant to the Legislature's definition of "owner."

In addition, Chapter 324, dealing with financial responsibility, provides in part under § 324.011, Fla. Stat. (1985):

It is the intent of this chapter to recognize the existing privilege to own or operate a motor vehicle on the public streets and highways of this state when such vehicles are used with due consideration for others and their property, and to promote safety and provide financial security requirements for such owners or operators whose responsibility it is to recompense others for injury to person or property caused by the operation of a motor vehicle.

Section 324.021(9), Fla. Stat. (1985) then goes on to define "owner" within the meaning of the financial responsibility statute: that definition is <u>verbatim</u> the same as the definition contained within § 316.003(27), Fla. Stat. quoted <u>supra</u>. Once again, the Legislature saw fit to provide that where a vehicle is subject to a conditional sale or lease with the right of purchase upon performance of the conditions stated in the agreement, and with an immediate right of possession vested in the conditional vendee or

lessee, <u>it is the vendee or lessee that is the "owner" of</u> the vehicle.

In summary, unlike in <u>Anderson</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Legislature has <u>not</u> imposed upon GMAC the obligation to properly operate the vehicle in question on the roads of this state, nor has it imposed upon GMAC the financial responsibility requirements of Chapter 324. On the contrary, as in <u>Palmer</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Legislature has found fit to specifically provide that the long-term lessee, in this case Mr. Green, is the "owner" of the motor vehicle in question. The Legislature obviously recognized that responsibility for the use of the vehicle in a long-term lease situation should be vested in the beneficial owner -- the long-term lessee. In that regard, the Legislature has done little more than codify this Court's Decision in Palmer, supra.

Prior to the Court of Appeal's Decision sought to be reviewed in the instant case, the issue of whether a long-term lessor can be responsible under the dangerous instrumentality doctrine had not been squarely addressed by any Courts of this state. That precise issue was, however, addressed by the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia in Lee v. Ford Motor Company, 595 F. Supp. 1114 (D. D.C. 1984). In Lee an individual named Fullwood was an employee of the U.S. Government, and he struck the Plaintiff while operating a government vehicle leased from Ford Motor Company pursuant to a long-term lease agreement. The District of Columbia had previously adopted the dangerous

instrumentality doctrine by statute, entitled the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act, D.C. Code § 40-408. Id. at 1114. Of course, suit was filed by Lee against Ford Motor Company, seeking to hold Ford liable under the codified version of the dangerous instrumentality doctrine.

Ford moved for summary judgment contending that it was not the "owner" of the long-term lease vehicle within the meaning of the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act. In discussing the issue, the District Court initially noted that prior to a definition of "owner" being specifically included within the act itself, the holding of title, with no immediate right of control, was not sufficient to impose liability. Id. at 1115. Rather:

The judicially developed law under the 1929 Act had substituted a practical test of ability to control a vehicle's use for the more rigid definition of "owner." Id. at 1115.

In that regard, the judicially developed law was quite the same as that developed in Florida. Moreover, as in Florida, Congress had, in 1956, modified the Motor Vehicle Safety Responsibility Act to include a definition of "owner," which is in fact identical to the definitions contained within §§ 316.003(27) and 324.021(9), Fla. Stat. (1985). After discussing the pre-existing case law, and the 1956 modification to the Act itself, the Court stated:

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